FILED
April 1, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 71947-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON

KARY L. CALDWELL,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CITY OF HOQUIAM, a governmental entity; JENNIFER M. SMITH and JOHN DOE SMITH, individually and the marital community composed thereof; SHAWN M. SMITH and JOHN DOE SMITH, individually and the marital community composed thereof; JAMES THOMPSON and JANE DOE THOMPSON, individually and the marital community composed thereof,

Defendants-Appellants.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT CITY OF HOQUIAM

I. INTRODUCTION

On August 11, 2009, the City of Hoquiam¹ issued a dangerous dog declaration to the owner of a dog that had twice fought with the owner's second dog. The declaration required the owner to take certain actions, such as obtaining a special license, insurance, and enclosure. If the owner failed to take those actions, an ordinance required the City to impound the dog.

The owner appealed the declaration and lost. At the September 1, 2009 hearing, the municipal court ordered the owner to take the actions listed in the August 11 declaration by September 10. The City attempted to locate the dog after September 10 to determine compliance. The City could not locate the dog because the owner moved the dog to another jurisdiction before the hearing. Several weeks later, the dog bit Plaintiff in another city.

Plaintiff claimed that Hoquiam failed to enforce its requirement that the dog be impounded for the owner's failure to comply with the court order affirming the declaration. Under the failure to enforce exception to the public duty doctrine, a city can be liable for a failure to enforce only if a city official has actual knowledge that there is a violation of an ordinance requiring mandatory enforcement. Hoquiam had no knowledge

¹ Hereafter "Hoquiam" or "City."

that the owner failed to comply with the court order because the owner and dog could not be located. In fact, the dog was no longer in Hoquiam.

The City had no duty to act absent actual knowledge of a statutory violation. The trial court erred by denying Hoquiam's motion for summary judgment and by granting summary judgment to Plaintiff.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred by denying the City of Hoquiam's summary judgment motion based on lack of duty.
- 2. The trial court erred by granting Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment on liability.
- 3. The trial court erred by denying the City of Hoquiam's motion for judgment as a matter of law pursuant to CR 50.
- 4. The trial court erred by giving Instruction 12 which indicated that the City owed Caldwell a duty pursuant to HMC 3.40.080.
- 5. The trial court erred by declining to give the City's proposed jury instruction 25, which correctly stated the circumstances under which the public duty doctrine would impose a duty on the City based upon the failure to enforce exception.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. Can the City of Hoquiam be liable for failure to enforce an ordinance if the City did not have actual knowledge that the ordinance was violated? (Assignments of Error 1, 2, 3, and 4.)
- B. Did Plaintiff produce evidence that the City of Hoquiam knew that the owner of the dog that bit Plaintiff was in violation of the City's dangerous dog declaration after the municipal court affirmed the declaration? (Assignments of Error 1, 2, 3, and 4.)
- C. Does a City of Hoquiam animal control ordinance provide for impoundment of a dog, and criminal liability, for an owner's failure to comply with the terms of a dangerous dog declaration before the declaration is served on the owner? (Assignments of Error 1, 2, 3, and 4.)
- D. Can the City of Hoquiam confiscate an owner's property, absent emergency, without prior opportunity for a hearing or other due process? (Assignments of Error 1, 2, 3, and 4.)
- E. Is the constitutional prohibition on ex post facto law enforcement violated by prosecuting a dog owner for failure to have satisfied conditions in a declaration before those conditions were imposed on the owner by service of the declaration? (Assignments of Error 1, 2, 3, and 4.)

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts

1. Appeal of Hoquiam Declaration

On August 11, 2009, a dog owner received assistance from Hoquiam animal control Officer Hill to separate her two dogs. CP 206, 214. The dogs were fighting in her living room. *Id.* Officer Hill separated the dogs and then issued a "dangerous dog declaration" to the owner for one of the dogs. *Id.* Under the Hoquiam Municipal Code (HMC), the declaration required the owner to take certain actions, such as obtaining a special dog license, insurance, and an enclosure. CP 219-20; HMC 3.40.080(5).² If the owner failed to take these actions, the ordinance required the City to impound the dog. HMC 3.40.080(6).

The declaration became a final order if the owner did not appeal within ten days. HMC 3.40.080(4). The owner appealed the declaration. CP 207. On September 1, 2009, the Hoquiam Municipal Court heard the appeal. *Id.* The Court affirmed the declaration, directed that the dog remain with the owner, and ordered the owner to take the required actions by September 10, 2009. *Id.*; CP 222.

² The Hoquiam ordinance is attached as Appendix A for the Court's reference.

2. City Enforcement of Order Affirming Declaration

After expiration of the period for compliance with the court order, Officer Hill attempted to locate the owner and the dog to determine if the owner had taken the required actions. CP 207. Officer Hill could not locate the owner or the dog. CP 207-08. A person at the owner's former residence informed Officer Hill that the owner and the dog had left to find a new home and that he did not know their location. *Id*.

Unknown to the City, the dog's owner removed the dog to her daughter's residence in Olympia shortly after Officer Hill issued the August 11 declaration. CP 283, 286-87. On September 10, 2009, the daughter moved with the dog to her boyfriend's apartment in Kent. CP 223-29. The dog later bit Plaintiff's arm during Plaintiff's visit to the daughter's boyfriend at his apartment. CP 2.

B. Statement of Procedure

1. Plaintiff's Liability Claim

On July 11, 2012, Plaintiff filed an administrative claim with Hoquiam alleging liability on the following basis:

On September 1, 2009, Temper was declared by order of court to be a dangerous dog. City of Hoquiam and its agents failed to take reasonable steps to ensure Temper's owners and/or harborers complied with the Court's order, including but not limited to, failing to properly confine Temper, failing to confiscate Temper upon learning the Court's order was not being complied with, failing to locate

Temper, and failing to notify other jurisdictions in the State of Washington about Temper's dangerous dog declaration.³

(Emphasis added). On September 21, 2012, Plaintiff filed a Complaint against Hoquiam and other defendants, making the following negligence allegations against Hoquiam.

Defendants Grays Harbor and City of Hoquiam were negligent in enforcing the conditions imposed on Defendant Shawn Marie Smith by the Municipal Court of Hoquiam and negligent by failing to enforce ordinances regarding control of dangerous or potentially dangerous animals.

CP 16. Both the administrative claim and the Complaint alleged that Hoquiam failed to enforce the September 1, 2009, Municipal Court order.

2. Summary Judgment Motions

On August 9, 2013, Hoquiam filed a motion for summary judgment on the ground that Hoquiam had no "actual knowledge" of a violation of the Court's order. CP 186-203. Actual knowledge is a requirement for the failure to enforce exception to the public duty doctrine.⁴ The City's motion also argued that the City had no legal authority to enforce the court order because the owner had removed the

³ Plaintiff's administrative claim is the first document in the appendix to the City's Motion for Discretionary Review to the Court of Appeals, so it is in this Court's file rather than in the clerk's papers.

⁴ Under the failure to enforce exception to the public duty doctrine, a regulatory agency must have actual notice of a violation for which corrective action is mandatory before the agency can be liable. *Smith v. State*, 59 Wn. App. 808, 802 P.2d 133 (1990).

dog from Hoquiam jurisdiction before the court issued the order. *Id.* The trial court denied the City's summary judgment motion. CP 186-202.

Plaintiff filed a motion for summary judgment against Hoquiam on August 8, 2012. CP 37-61. Plaintiff's motion abandoned her claim that Hoquiam failed to enforce the Court order affirming the declaration. CP 56-60; 416-22. Instead, Plaintiff argued that HMC 3.40.080 required the City to impound the dog when the City served the declaration because the owner was not already in compliance with the conditions imposed by the order at the time of service. *Id.* The trial court granted Plaintiff's summary judgment on liability. CP 527-29. The court specifically found that HMC 3.40.080 required the City to impound the dog immediately on service of the declaration. VRP 40 (9/6/2013). On November 4, 2013, the court denied Hoquiam's motion for reconsideration of the court's denial of Hoquiam's summary judgment motion and the court's granting of Plaintiff's summary judgment motion. CP 510-12.

3. Petition for Discretionary Review

The City petitioned this Court for discretionary review of the trial court's summary judgment rulings, which effectively found Hoquiam liable as a matter of law based on undisputed facts. CP 151-26. The Court's ruling was:

In short, the City has raised important arguments supporting its position that HMC 3.40.080 does not impose a mandatory duty to impound an animal immediately upon issuing a dangerous dog declaration. But Caldwell's and the trial court's interpretation is not so obviously error that interlocutory review is warranted.

CP 811. The Court concluded that "any review will be more appropriate following trial and entry of a judgment." *Id*.

4. Trial Rulings, Motions, and Verdict

From the beginning of trial, the court made clear that it would not revisit any of the earlier summary judgment rulings. VRP 30, 64-65 (1/22/14). Over the City's objections, the court ruled *in limine* that the City was prohibited from arguing that it did not have a duty to impound the dog on August 11, 2009 or that the declaration did not become final and enforceable until after appeal to the Hoquiam Municipal Court. CP 1192-94; CP 1044-50. Nevertheless, at the close of Plaintiff's case, the City moved to dismiss Plaintiff's claims, pursuant to Civil Rule 50, on the same grounds that the City argued in its summary judgment motion. VRP 3, 18-19 (4/24/14); CP 1347-55. While the court dismissed Plaintiff's outrage claim, it allowed Plaintiff's negligence claim to proceed to the jury. VRP 18-19 (4/24/14). The City similarly objected to the court's instructions indicating that it owed a duty based on Plaintiff's failure to establish any exception to the public duty doctrine. VRP 13-14 (4/24/14). On April 25,

2014, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Plaintiff, awarding damages of \$435,000.00, and the court entered judgment. CP 1493-95. The City timely filed a notice of appeal on May 15, 2014. CP 1518-20.⁵

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The City seeks review of the trial court's erroneous ruling on cross motions for summary judgment that the City owed a duty under HMC § 3.40.080 to impound the dog "Temper" immediately upon service of the dangerous dog declaration on August 11, 2009. The court sustained the ruling at trial when it denied, in part, the City's CR 50 motion and allowed Plaintiff's negligence claim to proceed to the jury. "The standard on a motion for judgment as a matter of law mirrors that of summary judgment." *Sheikh v. Choe*, 156 Wn.2d 441, 447, 128 P.3d 574 (2006). The appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court in reviewing rulings on both summary judgment and CR 50 motions. *Id.* "Whether or not the duty element exists in the negligence context is a question of law that is reviewed de novo." *Id.* at 448.

⁵ The court also entered a Supplemental Judgment including Plaintiff's costs on May 15, 2014, and the City then filed an Amended Notice of Appeal objecting to the Supplemental Judgment on May 22, 2014. CP 1540-67.

B. The Regulatory Liability of the City of Hoquiam Is Governed By the Failure to Enforce Exception to the Public Duty Doctrine

The threshold requirement in a tort lawsuit against government is the existence of a duty of care which runs to the plaintiff. *LaPlante v. State*, 85 Wn.2d 154, 531 P.2d 299 (1975). Government duty for regulatory programs is limited to prevent broad liability from discouraging public welfare programs. *Taylor v. Stevens County*, 111 Wn.2d 159, 170, 759 P.2d 447 (1988). Since this Court's decision in *Georges v. Tudor*, Washington courts have followed the "...general rule that negligent performance of a governmental police power duty enacted for the benefit of the general public imposes no municipal liability running to individual members of the public." This limitation on police and regulatory liability is known as the "public duty doctrine." Animal control is a government regulatory function protected by this doctrine. *Champagne v. Spokane Human Services*, 47 Wn. App. 887, 737 P.2d 1279 (1987); *King v. Hutson*, 97 Wn. App. 590, 987 P.2d 655 (1999).

There are four limited exceptions to the lack of liability for government regulatory functions. The exceptions are the legislative intent, the special relationship, the volunteer rescue, and the failure to enforce exceptions. *Smith v. State*, 59 Wn. App. 808 (1990).

⁶ 16 Wn. App. 407, 410, 556 P.2d 564 (1976)

Plaintiff's Amended Complaint makes no allegations that the legislative intent, special relationship, or volunteer rescue exceptions are satisfied in this case. See CP 7-18. There is also no evidence to support application of these exceptions. In regard to the legislative intent exception, Hoquiam ordinances do not have the required language showing an intent "to identify and protect a particular circumscribed class of persons" rather than the public generally. See Smith, 59 Wn. App. at 813; CP 247-62. In regard to the special relationship, there is no allegation of any contact by Plaintiff with Hoquiam animal control authorities, express assurances by the City, or justifiable reliance on assurances from the City. Id.; CP 7-18. In regard to the volunteer rescue doctrine, there is no evidence that the City of Hoquiam acted as a volunteer rather than under its government regulatory authority. CP 204-222.

The fourth circumstance under which regulatory liability might exist is the "failure to enforce" exception. Plaintiff claims that the "failure to enforce" exception creates liability for Hoquiam. CP 49; 302-311. The criteria for the failure to enforce exception are:

- (1) Governmental agents responsible for enforcing statutory requirements possess actual knowledge of a statutory violation.
- (2) They <u>fail to take corrective action</u>.
- (3) There is a statutory duty to do so.

(4) And the plaintiff is within the class that statute intended to protect.

Smith, 59 Wn. App at 814, (Emphasis added.); Honcoop v. State, 111 Wn.2d 182, 759 P.2d 1188 (1988). All four elements of the exception must be met; Plaintiff has the burden of establishing each element. Atherton Condo Ass'n v. Blume, 115 Wn.2d 506, 531, 797 P.2d 250 (1990). The failure to enforce exception is construed narrowly because a broad construction would eviscerate the policy considerations supporting the limitation of liability for government regulatory functions. Id.

C. Plaintiff Cannot Satisfy The Failure To Enforce Exception

1. The City Had No Actual Knowledge About the Dog Owner's Compliance With the Terms of the Court Order and City Ordinance

The City of Hoquiam dangerous dog ordinance is HMC 3.40.080. The only mandatory enforcement duty is stated in section 6.

(6) A dangerous dog shall be immediately impounded by a police officer or an animal control officer if the owner of the dangerous dog fails to comply with any of the restrictions set forth in subsection (5)(a), (b), (c), (d), or (e) of this subsection.

HMC 3.40.080(6). In order for Hoquiam to have a duty to Plaintiff, she has the burden of showing that she has evidence that Officer Hill possessed "actual knowledge of a statutory violation." *Smith*, 59 Wn. App. at 814. Under the Hoquiam ordinance, Plaintiff would have to show

that Officer Hill had <u>actual knowledge</u> that the owner of the dog failed to acquire the special license, insurance, sign, enclosure, and leash that the court order and ordinance required.

Plaintiff's Amended Complaint makes two allegations that Hoquiam failed to enforce its dog ordinance. First, Plaintiff alleges that "no further action was taken by law enforcement authorities, including Animal Control" to locate the dog after Officer Hill found that the owner and the dog had abandoned their Hoquiam residence following the effective date of the Municipal Court's order imposing the statutory conditions. CP 13 (Amended Complaint ¶ 3.11). Second, Plaintiff alleges that Hoquiam "failed to take any action to ensure" that the dog owner "complied with the conditions imposed upon them by the court." *Id*.

The allegation that Hoquiam officials did not take additional actions to locate the dog does not satisfy the actual knowledge element of the failure to enforce exception. Constructive knowledge and "what the official should have known" are insufficient for the failure to enforce exception. Atherton, 115 Wn.2d at 532-33; Smith, 59 Wn. App. at 814. In Zimbleman v. Chaussee Corp., 55 Wn. App. 278, 282, 777 P.2d 32 (1989), the court stated that "knowledge does not include what an official might have known if he had performed his duties more effectively or vigilantly." Failure to discover a violation is not actual knowledge of a violation. Id.

In regard to the second allegation, (that Hoquiam took no action to enforce the conditions imposed by the Court) Plaintiff has no evidence that Officer Hill knew that the dog's owner was in violation of the conditions in the court order. The owner appealed the restrictions placed on the dog by Officer Hill on August 11, 2009. After the hearing on September 1, 2009, the municipal court order imposing the statutory conditions became effective on September 11, 2009. On September 14 and 16, Officer Hill went to the residence where the August 11 incident occurred and did not find the owner or the dog. A person at the residence (ex-boyfriend Borselli) informed Officer Hill that the owner and the dog were not at the residence, that the owner was looking for a new residence, and that he did not know where she was or where she was looking. This was the only information known to Officer Hill after the court order became effective. CP 207-08. Officer Hill had no actual knowledge of the owner's compliance with the conditions imposed on her, or even whether the dog and its owner remained in the City of Hoquiam.

The failure to enforce exception is not satisfied here because there is no evidence that Officer Hill had knowledge of whether or not the dog's owner had violated the conditions in the court order. Moreover, the failure to enforce exception does not allow liability predicated on a claim that a city regulatory authority "should have known" of a violation. There can

be liability only if the regulatory authority had actual knowledge of a violation, and this requirement is applied strictly. *Atherton*, 115 Wn.2d at 531-32.

2. The City Had No Authority to Enforce Its Ordinance On a Dog In Another Jurisdiction

Plaintiff's claim that City of Hoquiam officials failed to enforce its ordinance has a second shortcoming. After Plaintiff filed this claim, Officer Hill contacted Mr. Borselli, the owner of the house where the dog lived in 2009. CP 207. Mr. Borselli stated that he and the dog owner had taken the dog to the owner's daughter, Jennifer, in Olympia shortly after the August 11, 2009 incident. *Id.*; CP 286. The dog no longer lived in the City of Hoquiam during or after the appeal.

In Washington, the state constitution prohibits local governments from exercising regulatory authority outside their limits.

Any county, city, town or township, may make and enforce within its limits all such local, police, sanitary, and other regulations as are not in conflict with general laws.

Wash. State Const., Article XI, § 11. In *Brown v. Cle Elum*, 145 Wash. 588, 261 P. 112 (1927), the Supreme Court held that a city is strictly limited to enforcing its police power within the city.

This delegation of its police power by the state to various municipalities is strictly limited to the exercise of that power within the limits of such municipalities. Authorities are cited to the effect that the state, by legislative

enactment, might delegate its police power to various municipalities to be exercised beyond their limits, but those authorities will be found to have not arisen where a constitutional provision obtains such as the one existing in this state.

Brown, 145 Wash. at 589-90 (emphasis in original). Therefore, in addition to Officer Hill having no actual knowledge of the owner's compliance with restrictions on her dog, Officer Hill could not enforce Hoquiam restrictions on the dog because the owner took the dog outside Hoquiam jurisdiction. Officer Hill had no authority to impound the dog under HMC 3.40.080(6) in Olympia, or in Kent, where the dog was taken on September 10, 2009.

D. The Superior Court Erred By Denying the City's Summary Judgment Motion and Granting Plaintiff's Summary Judgment Motion

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