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

Id. at 79.27

In sum, it is unambiguous that Washington courts have discerned a

duty of care predicated upon state law or local ordinances on dangerous

dogs.

Turning to state law and the City's ordinance at issue here, it first is

clear, as the City has conceded, that Hoquiam's officers had the authority

to declare Temper a potentially dangerous dog on February 26, 2009,

given his vicious conduct at that time. RCW 16.08.070(1); RCW

16.08.090(2) (leaving regulation of potentially dangerous dogs to local

authorities);28 HMC 3.40.040(12); HMC 3.40.080(2). The fact that

Temperwas a potentially dangerous dog and repeated his vicious behavior

made him a dangerous dog. RCW 16.08.070(2)(c); HMC 3.40.080(1).

This decision on Temper's dangerousness was affirmed by the municipal

court. Again, the City concedes Temper's dangerousness.

27 As will be noted infra, DivisionII rejected the application of the public duty
doctrine.

28 A localgovernment mayevenprohibit possession of dangerous dogs. Rabon,
135 Wn.2d at 292-94.

Brief of Respondent - 22



A distinct issue is presented by the implications of such a decision.

HMC 3.40.080(5) and RCW 16.08.100(1). To continue the possession of

such a dangerous animal, the owner must take steps to protect people from

its potential harmfulness.

A further distinct issue is presented as to whether such a

potentially harmful animal must be immediately impounded to keep it

from harming humans. The City had a duty to immediately confiscate and

impound Temper as a dangerous dog on August 11, 2009 under both state

law and its own ordinance. RCW 16.08.100(1) could not be any clearer

when it states:

(1) Any dangerous dog shall be immediately confiscated by
an animal control authority if the: (a) Dog is not validly
registered under RCW 16.08.080; (b) owner does not
secure the liability insurance coverage required under RCW
16.08.080; (c) dog is not maintained in the proper
enclosure; The animal control authority shall destroy
the confiscated dangerous dog in an expeditious and
humane manner if any deficiencies required by this
subsection are not corrected within twenty days of
notification. In addition, the owner shall be guilty of a gross
misdemeanor punishable in accordance with RCW
9A.20.021.

(emphasis added). HMC 3.40.080(6), is equally unambiguous when it

states: "A dangerous dog shall be immediately impounded by a police

officer or an animal control officer if the owner of the dangerous dog fails

29 The full text of HMC 3.40.080 is in the Appendix.
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to comply with any of the restrictions set forth in subsection 5(a), (b), (c),

(d), or (e) of this section."30

The City attempts to argue that it was not under any obligation to

immediately impound Temper, and alternatively, it contends that Smith's

appeal of Temper's dangerous dog designation effectively stayed any

obligation to impound the dog. Br. of Appellant at 21-23. The City is

wrong onboth arguments.31

The statute's and ordinance's plain language controls.32 RCW

16.08.100(1) and HMC 3.40.080(6) require immediate impoundment of a

dangerous dog not meeting the legal restrictions attendant upon such a

designation. The language could not be plainer.33 The City's argument

would permit a dangerous animal to roam unrestricted, free to do further

harm to humans, just as Temper did here. Shawn Smith never complied,

nor had the capability or intent of complying, with either state law or the

30 The mandatory restrictions on a dangerous dog in HMC 3.40.080(5) mirror
those found in RCW 16.08.080(6).

31 The City also asserts in its brief at 15-16 that it could not enforce its
ordinances or RCW 16.08 outside of the City. This is a non-issue here. Temper was
declared a potentially dangerous dog and later a dangerous dog while he was in Hoquiam.
The City could have, and should have, impounded him while he was in Hoquiam for this
reason, thereby avoiding the attack on Caldwell.

32 See n.25 supra.

33 The language of HMC 3.40.150 on impoundment further reinforces this
interpretation.
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City ordinance on dangerous dogs. There was no admissible evidence that

Smith would have met the specific protective requirements that would have

allowed her to keep Temper. Instead, Smith simply absconded with her

dogs whenever their dangerousness was identified.

With respect to the City's stay argument pending appeal, br. of

appellant at 21-23,34 just as it does with the requirement of immediate

impoundment of non-compliant dangerous dogs, the City ignores its own

ordinances. Nothing in HMC 3.40.080(4) provides for an automatic stay

of the dangerous dog designation on appeal. Quite to the contrary, HMC

3.40.080(4) indicates the designation is final, unless appealed. HMC

3.40.080(6) directs immediate impoundment if the dog is dangerous and

the owner is not meeting the requirements of HMC 3.40.080(5). HMC

3.40.150(5) allows the City to enter private premises to impound the dog.

HMC 3.40.150(3) mandates that a dangerous dog failing to comply with

the restrictions in HMC 3.40.080(5) is not to be released until the

municipal court holds its hearing.

The City instead makes an argument about the finality of any

obligation to impound Temper based on the state Administrative

34 The trial court barred the City from raising this contention below, CP 1193,
and the City did not seek review of the trial court's rulings in limine on this point. Br. of
Appellant at 2.
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Procedures Act, RCW 34.05 ("APA"). Br. of Appellant at 23-24. The

APA does not even apply to the interpretationofHoquiam's ordinance.

Hoquiam's dangerous dog ordinance provides for distinct decisions.

One is whether the dog actually meets the criteria of HMC 3.40.080(1) to

establish it is dangerous. That decision is appealable to municipal court,

HMC 3.40.080(4); the hearing on that issue is expedited where the dog has

been impounded. Id. A distinct question relates to the impoundment of a

dangerous dog. The dog must be immediately impounded under HMC

3.40.080(6) unless the dog owner takes steps mandated by HMC 3.40.080(5)

to protect people from the dog. HMC 3.40.150(5) even allows City police or

its animal control officer to enter private premises to impound a dangerous

dog. The dog owner is entitled to a hearing on the release of a dangerous

dog. HMC 3.40.150(3). HMC 3.40.150(3) further provides that when a

dangerous dog is impounded, even if the dog's owners are in compliance

with the ordinance, the hearing judge may still order the animal's

destruction, if the dog is vicious and constitutes a threat to humans in the

City. Temper should have been immediately impounded on August 11,

2009.

In sum, the City had a duty to enforce both RCW 16.08.100 and

HMC 3.40.080/. 150 on August 11, 2009 by immediately impounding

Temper because his owners were in violation of the dangerous dog
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restrictions in statute and in City ordinance. The trial court did not err in

granting summary judgment to Caldwell on the duty issue, particularly in

light ofLivingston, King, and Gorman.

(2) The Public Duty Doctrine Does Not Foreclose the City's
Duty to Karv Caldwell

At its core, the City misunderstands the public duty doctrine,

equating it with immunity. Br. of Appellant at 10-12. The City contends

that government immunity is the starting point for this Court's analysis and

the public duty doctrine creates "exceptions" to such immunity. Id. at 10.

That analysis is wrong. As interpreted by the City, the doctrine is nothing

more than a backdoor device to restore sovereign immunity despite

legislative actions to abolish that immunity.35 But "governmental entities

in Washington are liable for their 'tortious conduct' to the 'same extent' as

a private person or corporation." Washburn v. City ofFederal Way, 178

Wn.2d 732, 753, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013).36

35 "The doctrine of governmental immunity springs from the archaic concept
that 'The King Can Do No Wrong.'" Kelso v. City ofTacoma, 63 Wn.2d 913, 914, 390
P.2d2(1964).

36 In 1961, the Legislature enacted RCW 4.92.090 abolishing state sovereign
irnmunity. That waiver quickly extended to municipalities in 1967. RCW 4.96.010;
Kelso, 63 Wn.2d at 918-19; Hosea v. City ofSeattle, 64 Wn.2d 678, 681, 393 P.2d 967
(1964). Local governments have since been "liable for damages arising out of their
tortious conduct ... to the same extent as if they were a private person or corporation."
RCW 4.96.010. These statutes operate to make state and local government
"presumptively liable in all instances in which the Legislature has not indicated
otherwise." Savage v. State, 127 Wn.2d 434, 445, 899 P.2d 1270 (1995) (emphasis in
original).
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Our Supreme Court has repeatedly made it clear that thedoctrine37

is merely a tool to properly apply traditional tort duty principles. The

doctrine "began its useful life as a tool to assist courts in determining the

intent of legislative bodies when interpreting statutes and codes."

Cummins v. Lewis County, 156 Wn.2d 844, 863, 133 P.3d 458 (2006)

(Chambers, J. concurring). If a court determined that the Legislature

"intended to protect certain individuals or a class of individuals to which

the plaintiff belonged," a duty to that plaintiff attached. Id. at 864.

The public duty doctrine analysis is not triggered simply because

the defendant happens to be a public entity. Id. It is not an immunity:

"The public duty doctrine does not serve to bar a suit in negligence against

a government entity." Cummins, 156 Wn.2d at 853. Rather, it is an

analytical tool designed to determine if a traditional tort duty of care, the

threshold determination in a negligence action, is owed. In other words,

the doctrine is a "focusing tool" to determine "whether a duty is actually

owed [to] an individual claimant rather than the public at large." Munich

v. Skagit Emergency Communication Ctr., 175 Wn.2d 871, 878, 288 P.3d

328 (2012). Justice Chambers made the extent of the doctrine clear in his

concurrence in Munich, joined by a majority of the Court that confined the

37 The public duty doctrine has been criticized by jurists and scholars alike.
J&B Development Co. v. King County, 100 Wn.2d 299, 311, 669 P.2d 468 (1983) (Utter,
J., concurring); Jenifer Kay Marcus, Washington's Special Relationship Exception to the
Public Duty Doctrine, 64 Wash. L. Rev. 401,414-17 (1989).
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doctrine only to duties imposed by statute, ordinance, or regulation, rather

than by common law:

Some think the public duty doctrine is a tort of its own
imposing a duty on any government that gives assurances
to someone. Some view it as providing some sort of broad
limit on all governmental duties so that governments are
never liable unless one of the four exceptions to the public
duty applies, thus largely eliminating duties based on the
foreseeability of avoidable harm to a victim. In fact, the
public duty doctrine is simply a tool we use to ensure that
governments are not saddled with greater liability than
private actors as they conduct the people's business.

Id. at 886.

Here, the City owed an individual duty to Kary Caldwell.

First, insofar as Caldwell contended below that the City owed her a

common law duty of care, thedoctrine is inapplicable. Id. at 886-87.38

Second, the doctrine does not apply to Caldwell's

ordinance/statute-based argument. There are at least four exceptions to

the public duty doctrine that assist in developing a court's duty focus: (1)

legislative intent, (2) failure to enforce, (3) special relationship, and (4)

rescue doctrine. Bailey v. Town ofForks, 108 Wn.2d 262, 268, 737 P.2d

1257 (1987). These exceptions have "virtually consumed the rule," id. at

267. The "public duty doctrine" does not apply if any of the four

38 The trial court didnotreference common lawduty in itsorder below, CP474,
but this Court may affirm on any grounds within the record. LaMon v. Butler, 112
Wn.2d 193, 200-01, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989).
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"exceptions" are in play.

The City argues in its brief at 12-15 that the failure to enforce

exception to the public duty doctrine does not apply. It is wrong. That

exception applies where "governmental agents responsible for enforcing

statutory requirements possess actual knowledge of a statutory violation"

and "fail to take corrective action despite a statutory duty to do so[.]"

Bailey, 108 Wn.2d at 268; Campbell v. City ofBellevue, 85 Wn.2d 1,13,

530 P.2d 234 (1975).39 The classic case is Bailey. There, a police officer

knew the driver of a vehicle was drunk, but failed to arrest him. The

officer is not required to realize a crime is being committed to trigger

liability; "knowledge of facts constituting the statutory violation, rather

than knowledge of the statutory violation itself, is all that is required."

Coffel v. Clallam County, 58 Wn. App. 517, 523, 794 P.2d 513 (1990).

Here, there is no question that the City was fully aware of Temper's

vicious propensities from the events of February 26 and August 11, 2009.

39 The public duty doctrine was first discussed in Washington in Campbell.
There, a city inspector failed to disconnect a nonconforming lighting system running
under a local stream, a failure which later resulted in the electrocution of the plaintiff
downstream. 85 Wn.2d at 2-6. On appeal, Bellevue argued that its enactment of
"electrical safety regulations and provisions for inspection and enforcement" gave rise
only to a "broad general responsibility to the public at large rather than to individual
members of the public." Id. at 9. Our Supreme Court applied the public duty doctrine as
developed in New York cases, but it went on to hold that liability would be imposed
"where a relationship exists or has developed between an injured plaintiffandagents of
the municipality creating a duty to perform a mandated act for the benefit of particular
persons or class of persons." Id. at 10 (emphasis added). The Campbell court affirmed
liabilityas to the city, noting that the Bellevueinspectorhad knowledge of this particular
nonconformingwiring system and the danger it posed to nearby residents. Id. at 13.
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In the specific context of dangerous dogs, the Livingston, King,

and Gorman courts concluded that the failure to enforce exception to the

public duty doctrine applied. 176 Wn. App. at 79-80.40 The City cannot

meaningfully distinguish these cases declining to apply the public duty

doctrine.

In sum, this is not like the cases where the enforcement officer

lacked knowledge of a statutory violation, Halleran v. Nu West, Inc., 123

Wn. App. 701, 98 P.3d 52 (2004), review denied, 154 Wn.2d 1005 (2005)

or general violations of law were at stake, McKasson v. State, 55 Wn.

App. 18, 776 P.2d 971, review denied, 113 Wn.2d 1026 (1989). Here, a

clear and mandatory directive by statute and ordinance, was present. ACO

Hill was abundantly aware that Temper was a potentially dangerous dog

and later a dangerous dog. The failure to enforce exception applies.41 The

40 As the Gorman court noted: "Pierce County received multiple complaints
about Wilson's dogs but failed to evaluate the dogs' dangerousness despite a statute
requiring it to act." 176 Wn. App. at 80. Hoquiam's ordinance and state law also
required it to act in this case regarding Temper. Both contained mandatory impoundment
language.

41 Insofar as review of the duty issue is de novo, this Court could also conclude
that the legislative intent exception applies. The public duty doctrine does not apply
where the Legislature has evidenced a clear intent to protect a particular class of persons.
Halvorson v. Dahl, 89 Wn.2d 673, 676, 574 P.2d 1190 (1978). Where this "legislative
intent" exception applies, a member of the identified class may bring a tort action against
the governmental entity for its violation of the statute. As the Donaldson court stated:

It is well established that a statute which creates a governmental duty to
protect particular individuals can be the basis for a negligence action
where the statute is violated and the injured party was one of the
persons designed to be protected. If the legislation evidences a clear
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public duty doctrine does not forestall the City's duty of care to Caldwell.

(3) This Court Should Disregard the City's Belated and
Baseless Constitutional Argument

Recognizing that its ordinance imposes a duty on it to immediately

impound dangerous dogs where their owners fail to comply with the

ordinance's mandate that the owners protect people from their dog's

viciousness, the City has the audacity to claim in its brief at 27-28, that its

own ordinance, HMC 3.40.080, is unconstitutional as violative of the

rights of dangerous dog owners. The City failed to preserve this issue for

appellate review. Moreover, the City is wrong on the merits. Due process

principles clearly permit government to take necessary police powers

intent to identify a particular and circumscribed class of persons, such
persons may bring an action in tort for violation of the statute.

65 Wn. App. at 667-68.

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